
 

 

 

 

  

 

             

 

           

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

   

 

 

 

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. Civil Action No. 20-3590 (JEB) 

FACEBOOK, INC., 

Defendant. 

MEMORANDUM OPINION 

At the time of the last great antitrust battle in our courthouse — between the United 

States and Microsoft — Mark Zuckerberg was still in high school.  Only after his arrival at 

Harvard did he launch “The Facebook” from his dorm room.  Nearly twenty years later, both 

federal and state regulators contend, in two separate actions before this Court, that Facebook is 

now the one violating the antitrust laws.  The company, they allege, has long had a monopoly in 

the market for what they call “Personal Social Networking Services.”  And it has allegedly 

maintained that monopoly, in violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, through two different 

kinds of actions: first, by acquiring firms that it believed were well positioned to erode its 

monopoly — most notably, Instagram and WhatsApp; and second, by adopting policies 

preventing interoperability between Facebook and certain other apps that it saw as threats, 

thereby impeding their growth into viable competitors.  Both suits seek equitable relief from this 

conduct, including forced “divestiture or reconstruction of businesses” as well as orders not to 

undertake similar conduct in the future.  See ECF No. 3 (Redacted Compl.) at 51–52. (The 
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To guide the parties in the event amendment occurs, this Opinion also explains two 

further conclusions of law.  First, even if the FTC had sufficiently pleaded market power, its 

�F�K�D�O�O�H�Q�J�H���W�R���)�D�F�H�E�R�R�N�¶�V��policy of refusing interoperability permissions with competing apps 

fails to state a claim for injunctive relief���� �$�V���H�[�S�O�D�L�Q�H�G���K�H�U�H�L�Q�����D�Q�G���L�Q���W�K�H �&�R�X�U�W�¶s separate 

�2�S�L�Q�L�R�Q���L�Q���W�K�H���6�W�D�W�H�V�¶���F�D�V�H�������W�K�H�U�H���L�V���Q�R�W�K�L�Q�J���X�Q�O�D�Z�I�X�O���D�E�R�X�W���K�D�Y�L�Q�J���V�X�F�K���D���S�R�O�L�F�\���L�Q���J�H�Q�H�U�D�O������

�:�K�L�O�H���L�W���L�V���S�R�V�V�L�E�O�H���W�K�D�W���)�D�F�H�E�R�R�N�¶�V��implementation of that policy as to certain specific 

competitor apps may have violated Section 2, such finding would not change the outcome here: 

all such revocations of access occurred in 2013, seven years before this suit was filed, and the 

FTC lacks statutory authority to seek an injunction �³based on [such] long-past conduct.�´��FTC v. 

Shire ViroPharma, Inc., 917 F.3d 147, 156 (3d Cir. 2019). Regardless of whether the FTC can 

amend its Complaint to plausibly allege market power and advance this litigation, then, the 

conduct it has �D�O�O�H�J�H�G���U�H�J�D�U�G�L�Q�J �)�D�F�H�E�R�R�N�¶�V���L�Q�W�H�U�R�S�H�U�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���S�R�O�L�F�Les cannot form the basis for 

Section 2 liability. Second, the agency is on firmer ground in scrutinizing the acquisitions of 

�,�Q�V�W�D�J�U�D�P���D�Q�G���:�K�D�W�V�$�S�S�����D�V���W�K�H���&�R�X�U�W���U�H�M�H�F�W�V���)�D�F�H�E�R�R�N�¶�V���D�U�J�X�P�H�Q�W���W�K�D�W���W�K�H FTC lacks authority 

to seek injunctive relief against those purchases.  Whether other issues arise in a subsequent 

phase of litigation is dependent on how the Government wishes to proceed. 
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�,�� �%�D�F�N�J�U�R�X�Q�G 

�$�� �6�R�F�L�D�O���1�H�W�Z�R�U�N�L�Q�J 

At the dawn of our century, in the much earlier days of the internet, a number of websites 

began to offer what came �W�R���E�H���N�Q�R�Z�Q���D�V���³�V�R�F�L�D�O���Q�H�W�Z�R�U�N�L�Q�J�´���V�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V������See Redacted Compl., 

¶ 38. Friendster and Myspace, both launched in 2002, were among the earliest. Id. Although 

the precise defini�W�L�R�Q���R�I���D���³Personal Social N
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�%�� �)�D�F�H�E�R�R�N���%�O�X�H 

Facebook Blue is what its millions of users think of when they think of �³�)�D�F�H�E�R�R�N���´ 

Generally speaking, using Facebook Blue entails interacting with user-created content �² i.e., 

�F�R�Q�W�H�Q�W���F�U�H�D�W�H�G���R�U���V�K�D�U�H�G���E�\���R�Q�H�¶�V���)�D�F�H�E�R�R�N���³�I�U�L�H�Q�G�V���´ id., ¶¶ 40, 89 �² or creating content 

oneself by posting. That is not all that users see or do, however.  They may also, for instance, 

encounter �³�Sublisher-created content like news articles . . . and advertisements�´ �L�Q���W�K�H�L�U���³�Q�H�Z�V��

�I�H�H�G���´ Id., ¶ 54; see also id., ¶¶ 44, 134. Such content can come in text, photo, or video form. 

Id., ¶ 54.  In addition, Facebook users can play games or use other applications built either by 

Facebook or by third parties.  Id., ¶¶ 97, 129. Facebook also offers other services beyond 

Facebook Blue to its users, such as Facebook Messenger, a free mobile-messaging service.  Id., 

¶¶ 37, 115. 

Unlike most businesses, Facebook charges users no fee; instead, it makes money by 

selling advertising.  Id., ¶¶ 43�±51. By leveraging 
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�&�� �$�O�O�H�J�H�G���0�R�Q�R�S�R�O�\���0�D�L�Q�W�H�Q�D�Q�F�H 

Instead, this suit alleges that Facebook has violated and is violating the antitrust laws, the 

focus of which, generally speaking, is to promote and ensure competition.  After rising to 

�E�H�F�R�P�H���W�K�H �³�G�R�P�L�Q�D�Q�W���S�H�U�V�R�Q�D�O���V�R�F�L�D�O���Q�H�W�Z�R�U�N�L�Q�J���S�U�R�Y�L�G�H�U���L�Q���W�K�H���8�Q�L�W�H�G���6�W�D�W�H�V�´���D�U�R�X�Q�G��������1, 

id., ¶ 62, Facebook allegedly made a fateful strategic pivot: rather than competing to provide the 

best product, it would instead protect its monopoly by leveraging its power to foreclose and 

forestall the rise of new competitors. Id., ¶¶ 5, 9. 
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¶ 71. 
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As required by the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18a, the FTC reviewed the 

acquisition prior to closing to assess whether it posed anticompetitive concerns.  Whereas most 

mergers are cleared quickly, in this instance the review took over four months. During that 

�V�F�U�X�W�L�Q�\�����W�K�H���D�J�H�Q�F�\���W�R�R�N���W�K�H���U�D�U�H���V�W�H�S���R�I���³�U�H�T�X�L�U�>�L�Q�J�@ the submission [by the parties] of 

additional information or documentary material relevant to the proposed acquisition���´�����������8���6���&����

�†�������D���H�����������$���������(�Y�H�Q�W�X�D�O�O�\�����K�R�Z�H�Y�H�U�����)�D�F�H�E�R�R�N���D�Q�G���,�Q�V�W�D�J�U�D�P���V�D�W�L�V�I�L�H�G���W�K�H���D�J�H�Q�F�\�¶�V���F�R�Q�F�H�U�Q�V����

and in August (over four months after the merger was announced), the Commission voted 5�±0 to 
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2. WhatsApp 

The other high-profile acquisition Plaintiff focuses on here involves not a competitor in 

the PSN market, like Instagram, but a company that might quickly become one. As noted above, 

�)�D�F�H�E�R�R�N�¶�V executives saw mobile-native apps in general as a threat.  They were particularly 

concerned with internet-based, so-�F�D�O�O�H�G���³�R�Y�H�U-the-�W�R�S���P�R�E�L�O�H���P�H�V�V�D�J�L�Q�J���V�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V�´ such as 

WhatsApp. Id., ¶ 107.  Since 2011, OTT messaging services have grown astronomically in use 

while SMS or MMS messaging (the kind of classic texting that relies on cellular networks rather 

than internet) has stagnated.  Id. Even though mobile mess1 (bit948f
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Since acquiring WhatsApp, the agency alleges, Facebook has �³�N�H�S�W���>�L�W�@���F�D�E�L�Q�H�G���W�R��

providing mobile messaging services rather than allowing�´���L�W to grow into a standalone PSN 

service.  See Redacted Compl., ¶ 126.  As with Instagram, Facebook has also limited its 

promotion of WhatsApp on its other services in the United States.  Id. It follows, Plaintiff 

further claims, that �³�)�D�F�H�E�R�R�N�¶�V���P�R�Q�R�S�R�O�L�]�D�W�L�R�Q�´ �Y�L�D��
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experience by integrating social functionality and benefiting from 
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There is an important coda to this story, however: Facebook �³removed �L�W�V���µ�F�R�U�H 

�I�X�Q�F�W�L�R�Q�D�O�L�W�\�¶���U�H�V�W�U�L�F�W�L�R�Q�V�´ in December 2018. Id., ¶ 148 (emphasis added). Although the 

company has not reinstated the policies (or, according to the Complaint�����U�H�Y�R�N�H�G���D�Q�\���D�S�S�V�¶���$�3�, 

access) since that time, the FTC alleges that 
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Facebook has now moved to dismiss both actions. See ECF No. 56 (MTD FTC); No. 20-

3589, ECF No. 114 (MTD States).  While the cases could be consolidated, the Court believes 

that clarity will be enhanced by resolving the two Motions to Dismiss in separate, 

contemporaneously issued Opinions.  As explained in its separate Opinion, it will grant the 

�0�R�W�L�R�Q���W�R���'�L�V�P�L�V�V���W�K�H���6�W�D�W�H�V�¶ entire case. See Mem. Op., No. 20-3589. By contrast, the Court 

here will dismiss only the Complaint, not the case, leaving the agency the chance to replead if it 

believes it can successfully remedy the infirmities described below. 

�,�,�� �/�H�J�D�O���6�W�D�Q�G�D�U�G 

Facebook moves to dismiss this action under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) for 

failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.  See MTD FTC at 1. In evaluating such 

�0�R�W�L�R�Q���W�R���'�L�V�P�L�V�V�����W�K�H���&�R�X�U�W���P�X�V�W���³�W�U�H�D�W���W�K�H���F�R�P�S�O�D�L�Q�W�¶�V���I�D�F�W�X�D�O���D�O�O�H�J�D�W�L�R�Q�V���D�V���W�U�X�H . . . and must 

�J�U�D�Q�W���S�O�D�L�Q�W�L�I�I���µ�W�K�H���E�H�Q�H�I�L�W���R�I���D�O�O���L�Q�I�H�U�H�Q�F�H�V���W�K�D�W���F�D�Q���E�H���G�H�U�L�Y�H�G���I�U�R�P���W�K�H���I�D�F�W�V���D�O�O�H�J�H�G���¶�´ Sparrow 

v. United Air Lines, Inc., 216 F.3d 1111, 1113 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (quoting Schuler v. United 

States, 617 F.2d 605, 608 (D.C. Cir. 1979))���� �$�O�W�K�R�X�J�K���³�G�H�W�D�L�O�H�G���I�D�F�W�X�D�O���D�O�O�H�J�D�W�L�R�Q�V�´ �D�U�H���Q�R�W��

necessary to withstand a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 

�������������������������³�D �F�R�P�S�O�D�L�Q�W���P�X�V�W���F�R�Q�W�D�L�Q���V�X�I�I�L�F�L�H�Q�W���I�D�F�W�X�D�O���P�D�W�W�H�U�����D�F�F�H�S�W�H�G���D�V���W�U�X�H�����W�R���µ�V�W�D�W�H���D �F�O�D�L�P��

�W�R���U�H�O�L�H�I���W�K�D�W���L�V���S�O�D�X�V�L�E�O�H���R�Q���L�W�V���I�D�F�H���´ Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting 

Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570) �² �W�K�D�W���L�V�����W�K�H���I�D�F�W�V���D�O�O�H�J�H�G���L�Q���W�K�H���F�R�P�S�O�D�L�Q�W���³�P�X�V�W���E�H���H�Q�R�X�J�K���W�R���U�D�L�V�H��

�D���U�L�J�K�W���W�R���U�H�O�L�H�I���D�E�R�Y�H���W�K�H���V�S�H�F�X�O�D�W�L�Y�H���O�H�Y�H�O���´ Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555. The Court need not 

accept as true, the�Q�����³�D���O�H�J�D�O���F�R�Q�F�O�X�V�L�R�Q���F�R�X�F�K�H�G���D�V���D���I�D�F�W�X�D�O���D�O�O�H�J�D�W�L�R�Q���´ Trudeau v. FTC, 456 

F.3d 178, 193 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (quoting Papasan v. Allain, 478 U.S. 265, 286 (1986)), nor 

�³�L�Q�I�H�U�H�Q�F�H�V���� . �����X�Q�V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�G���E�\���W�K�H���I�D�F�W�V���V�H�W���R�X�W���L�Q���W�K�H���F�R�P�S�O�D�L�Q�W���´ Id. (quoting Kowal v. MCI 

�&�R�P�P�F�¶�Q�V���&�R�U�S�������������)�����G���������������������������'���&�����&�L�U�����������������������$�Q�G���L�W���P�D�\���F�R�Q�V�L�G�H�U���Q�R�W���R�Q�O�\���³�W�K�H���I�D�F�W�V��

16 
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�D�O�O�H�J�H�G���L�Q���W�K�H���F�R�P�S�O�D�L�Q�W���´���E�X�W���D�O�V�R���³�D�Q�\���G�R�F�X�P�H�Q�W�V���H�L�W�K�H�U���D�W�W�D�F�K�H�G���W�R���R�U���L�Q�F�R�U�S�R�U�D�W�H�G���L�Q���W�K�H��

complaint[,] and matters of which [courts] may take judicial �Q�R�W�L�F�H���´ 
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�W�K�H���)�7�&���W�R���F�K�D�O�O�H�Q�J�H���)�D�F�H�E�R�R�N�¶�V���D�F�T�X�L�V�L�W�L�R�Q�V���R�I���,�Q�V�W�D�J�U�D�P���D�Q�G���:�K�D�W�V�$�S�S�����F�R�Q�W�U�D�U�\���W�R��the 
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�³�I�D�F�W�R�U�V���������������W�K�D�W���S�U�H�Y�H�Q�W���Q�H�Z���U�L�Y�D�O�V���I�U�R�P���W�L�P�H�O�\���U�H�V�S�R�Q�G�L�Q�J to an increase in price above the 

�F�R�P�S�H�W�L�W�L�Y�H���O�H�Y�H�O�´��. 

Although the FTC briefly suggests in its Opposition that it can offer direct proof of 

market power, see ECF No. 59 (FTC Opp.) at 8, it spends nearly its entire brief arguing why it 

has sufficiently 
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parties do not dispute here that the geographic market �² �W�K�D�W���L�V�����³�W�K�H���W�H�U�U�D�L�Q���L�Q���Z�K�L�F�K��

�F�R�P�S�H�W�L�W�L�R�Q���W�D�N�H�V���S�O�D�F�H���´ Novell, Inc. v. Microsoft Corp., 731 F.3d 1064, 1071 (10th Cir. 2013) 

�² is the United States, see FTC Opp. at 10, the only issue is the �³�>�W�@�K�H���R�X�W�H�U���E�R�X�Q�G�D�U�L�H�V���R�I���>�W�K�H 

relevant] product market�´���L�Q���Z�K�L�F�K���)�D�F�H�E�R�R�N���R�S�H�U�D�W�H�V������Sky Angel, 947 F. Supp. 2d at 102 

(quoting Brown Shoe Co. v. United States, 370 U.S. 294, 325 (1962)). 

�³�$���µ�U�H�O�H�Y�D�Q�W���S�U�R�G�X�F�W���P�D�U�N�H�W�¶���L�V���D���W�H�U�P���R�I �D�U�W���L�Q���D�Q�W�L�W�U�X�V�W���D�Q�D�O�\�V�L�V���´ United States v. H&R 

Block, Inc., 833 F. Supp. 2d 36, 50 (D.D.C. 2011)�����D�Q�G���L�V���G�H�I�L�Q�H�G���D�V���³�D�O�O���S�U�R�G�X�F�W�V���U�H�D�V�R�Q�D�E�O�\ 

interchangeable by consumers for the same purp�R�V�H�V���´ Microsoft, 253 F.3d at 52.  �³�%�H�F�D�X�V�H the 

ability of consumers to turn to other suppliers restrains a firm from raising prices above the 

�F�R�P�S�H�W�L�W�L�Y�H���O�H�Y�H�O���´��id. at 51, the analysis of market power (which simply means the power to do 

just that) must use, as its denominator, all �S�U�R�G�X�F�W�V���³�U�R�X�J�K�O�\ 
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users, to make it easier for each user to build and expand their set of personal connections.  The 

�V�R�F�L�D�O���J�U�D�S�K���D�O�V�R���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�V���W�K�L�V���I�H�D�W�X�U�H���E�\���L�Q�I�R�U�P�L�Q�J���>�W�K�H���X�V�H�U�@���Z�K�L�F�K���>�Q�H�Z�@���F�R�Q�Q�H�F�W�L�R�Q�V�´���P�L�J�K�W��

be available based on her existing network.  Id., ¶ 55. 

Having defined PSN services, Plaintiff then alleges that there are in fact no �³�R�W�K�H�U���W�\�S�H�V��

�R�I���L�Q�W�H�U�Q�H�W���V�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V�´���W�K�D�W���D�U�H���³�D�G�H�T�X�D�W�H���V�X�E�V�W�L�W�X�W�H�V.�´ Id., ¶ 57. It buttresses that conclusion by 

explaining why four different kinds of arguably �F�R�P�S�D�U�D�E�O�H���R�Q�O�L�Q�H���V�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V���D�U�H���Q�R�W���³�U�H�D�V�R�Q�D�E�O�\ 

�L�Q�W�H�U�F�K�D�Q�J�H�D�E�O�H�´ �Z�L�W�K���3�6�1���V�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V������Id.�����ˆ�������������)�L�U�V�W�����³�V�S�H�F�L�D�O�L�]�H�G���V�R�F�L�D�O���Q�H�W�Z�R�U�N�L�Q�J���V�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V�´ 

�W�K�D�W���³�I�R�F�X�V���R�Q���S�U�R�I�H�V�V�L�R�Q�D�O���������������F�R�Q�Q�H�F�W�L�R�Q�V�´ ��e.g., LinkedIn) are not substitutes because they are 

designed for and used primarily by professionals for sharing professional content. Id., ¶ 58. 

They therefore would not be used, as PSN services are�����W�R���³�P�D�L�Q�W�D�L�Q���S�H�U�V�R�Q�D�O���U�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�K�L�S�V���D�Q�G��

�V�K�D�U�H���H�[�S�H�U�L�H�Q�F�H�V���Z�L�W�K���I�U�L�H�Q�G�V�����I�D�P�L�O�\�����D�Q�G���R�W�K�H�U���S�H�U�V�R�Q�D�O���F�R�Q�Q�H�F�W�L�R�Q�V���´ Id., ¶ 52. The same is 

�W�U�X�H�����D�O�O�H�J�H�V���W�K�H���)�7�&�����I�R�U���³�L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W-�E�D�V�H�G�´���V�R�F�L�D�O-networking services such as Strava (which 

relates to physical exercise). Id., ¶ 58.  The agency also pleads that PSN services are not 

reasonably interchangeable with services that allow for consuming and sharing video or audio 

content, such as YouTube, Spotify, Netflix, or Hulu.  Id., ¶ 59.  That is because users of such 

services mostly consume such content passively or share content created by others (rather than 

�F�R�Q�W�H�Q�W���W�K�H�\���K�D�Y�H �F�U�H�D�W�H�G�������D�Q�G���V�X�F�K���V�K�D�U�L�Q�J�����Z�K�H�U�H���L�W���R�F�F�X�U�V�����L�V���Q�R�W���W�R���W�K�H���X�V�H�U�¶�V���Q�H�W�Z�R�U�N���R�I 

personal connections but rather to a general and wide audience of unknown users.  Id. In such a 

�V�H�W�W�L�Q�J�����X�V�H�U�V���G�R���Q�R�W���X�V�X�D�O�O�\���³�F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�F�D�W�H���Z�L�W�K���I�U�L�H�Q�G�V�����I�D�P�L�O�\�����D�Q�G���R�W�K�H�U���S�H�U�V�R�Q�D�O���F�R�Q�Q�H�F�W�L�R�Q�V���´ 

which is the hallmark of a PSN service.  Id. �)�L�Q�D�O�O�\�����3�O�D�L�Q�W�L�I�I���H�[�S�O�D�L�Q�V���W�K�D�W���³�P�R�E�L�O�H���P�H�V�V�D�J�L�Q�J 

�V�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V�´ cannot be substituted for PSN services because the former (i) �O�D�F�N���D���³�V�K�D�U�H�G���V�R�F�L�D�O��

�V�S�D�F�H�´ �I�R�U���L�Q�W�H�U�D�F�W�L�R�Q and (ii) do not �H�P�S�O�R�\���D���V�R�F�L�D�O���J�U�D�S�K���W�R���I�D�F�L�O�L�W�D�W�H���X�V�H�U�V�¶���I�L�Q�G�L�Q�J���D�Q�G��

�³�I�U�L�H�Q�G�L�Q�J�´���R�W�K�H�U���X�V�H�U�V���W�K�H�\ may know. Id., ¶ 60.  Zuckerberg himself has colorfully explained 
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one key difference in use that allegedly flows from these disparate features�����D���3�6�1���V�H�U�Y�L�F�H���L�V���³�W�K�H 

�G�L�J�L�W�D�O���H�T�X�L�Y�D�O�H�Q�W���R�I �D���W�R�Z�Q���V�T�X�D�U�H���´���Z�K�H�U�H�D�V���D���P�R�E�L�O�H���P�H�V�V�D�J�L�Q�J���V�H�U�Y�L�F�H���L�V���³�W�K�H���G�L�J�L�W�D�O��

equivalent of [a] �O�L�Y�L�Q�J���U�R�R�P���´����Id. 

According to the FTC, then, the relevant market here thus includes PSN services �² such 

as Facebook Blue, Instagram, and Path, id., ¶¶ 63, 153 �² and no other kinds of services.  

�F�� �$�Q�D�O�\�V�L�V 

On this issue, Facebook contends that, for a number of reasons, Plaintiff �¶�V��allegations 

regarding market definition fall short of the pleading-stage requirement that such �³�D�O�O�H�J�H�G��

product market �������������E�H���S�O�D�X�V�L�E�O�H���´ Sky Angel, 947 F. Supp. 2d at 103 (quoting Todd v. Exxon 

Corp., 275 F.3d 191, 200 (2d Cir. 2001)). 
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its prohibition to actions taken against threats that are already well-developed enough to serve as 

present substitutes.” Id. So too here: actions taken against Vine and Circle may have been 

anticompetitive even though those firms were not Facebook Blue’s competitors in a properly 

drawn product market. 

Second, Defendant maintains, the FTC has neglected to allege any facts regarding the 

“cross-elasticity of demand between [PSN services] and [potential] sub䠀]Ӱр֐Ӏompetitors in a �瀀s c̀f/᐀cross
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2. Market Share 

Although the Court therefore finds that the Complaint’s allegations do enough to make 
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Instagram or Path are not, seemingly, part of those firms’ PSN-services offerings as defined by 

the FTC; time spent on those apps or websites, accordingly, is not necessarily time spent on a 

PSN service. The Commission, for instance, expressly alleges that social-networking services 

based on “interest-based . . . connections” such as Strava are not, by its definition, PSN services.  

Id., ¶ 58. That definition of what is in the market, perhaps counterintuitively to Facebook users, 

would mean that time a user spends engaging with specific interest-based Facebook pages or 

groups may not qualify as time spent on a PSN service.  The same problem arises when a user 

“passive[ly] consum[es]” “online video” on a PSN service. Id., ¶ 59. To the extent that, say, 

Instagram users spend their time on the site or app watching a comedy routine posted by the 

official page of a famous comedian, are they spending time on a PSN service? If not, as the 

Complaint suggests is the case, id., then time spent “on Facebook” or “on Instagram” bears an 

uncertain relationship to the actual metric that would be relevant: time spent using their PSN 

services in particular. Put another way, the uncertainty left open by the Complaint as to exactly 

which features of Facebook, Instagram, et al. do and do not constitute part of their PSN services, 

while not necessarily rendering the alleged PSN-services market implausible, compounds the 

trouble created by the FTC’s vaguer-still allegations regarding Facebook’s share of that market. 

Nor do the difficulties stop there.  Readers may well have noticed that the discussion to 

this point has consistently referred to Instagram and Facebook as examples of PSN services. 

That is because, outside of Path, Myspace, and Friendster, all of which seem to be long defunct 

or quite small, see id., ¶¶ 38, 41, 153, Plaintiff’s Complaint does not identify any other providers 

of PSN services.  Yet the FTC is apparently unwilling to allege that Facebook has ever (pre- or 

post-Instagram acquisition) had something like 85% or even 75% market share; instead it hedges 

by offering only that the number is somewhere north of 60%.  The question naturally arises: 

30 
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which firms make up the remaining 30–40%? Cf. Cupp, 310 F. Supp. 2d at 971 (“Without a[n] 

. . . accounting of the brands and suppliers to be included in the relevant market, the Court cannot 
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power to profitably raise prices or exclude competition in a properly defined market. To merely 

allege that a defendant firm has somewhere over 60% share of an unusual, nonintuitive product 

market — the confines of which are only somewhat fleshed out and the players within which 

remain almost entirely unspecified — is not enough. The FTC has therefore fallen short of its 

pleading burden. 

That said, because it believes that the agency may be able to “cure [these] deficiencies” 

by repleading, Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 182 (1962), the Court will dismiss without 

prejudice only the Complaint, not the entire case, leaving Plaintiff “free to amend [its] pleading 

and continue the litigation.” Ciralsky, 355 F.3d at 666 (citation omitted) (explaining that 

dismissal without prejudice of the complaint, as opposed to the case, is not final). Whether and 

how the agency chooses to do so is up to it.  

* * * 

While the court could end here, it believes it profitable to provide some guidance to the 

parties should the case proceed.  It thus offers some further legal analysis on two issues raised by 

the FTC’s allegation␰. For ease of organization, that discussion will “analyze the various” 

components of the agency’M Section 2 claim — namely, the Platform-policies component and the 

acquisitions component — “individually,” even though Plaintiff technically fmр�ҀՠMӀհMMѠhallenge 

as an attack on 
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assuming again that market power can be demonstrated, Section 13(b) does, pace Facebook, 

allow the FTC to seek injunctive relief based on the Instagram and WhatsApp acquisitions. 

B. Platform Policies 

By way of refresher, Plaintiff alleges that Facebook adopted and enforced a number of 

anticompetitive policies governing the use of its APIs.  Most prominently, in 2013 it announced 

a policy of refusing to allow third-party, freestanding apps (like the chess app or the Washington 

Post app discussed above) to access those APIs if they 
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For those who will consider this Opinion alongside the Court’s companion Opinion in the 

State case, the following “legal framework” section is the same in both. The analysis that 

follows diverges somewhat given the different legal regimes governing suits by States and suits 

by the FTC, although the outcome is similar. 

1. Refusal to Deal 

a. Legal Framework 

The central principle that governs refusal-to-deal claims is that, as a general matter, a 

monopolist has “the right to refuse to deal with other firms,” which includes the right to “refus[e] 

to cooperate with rivals.” Verizon Commc’ns Inc. v. L. Offs. of Curtis V. Trinko, LLP, 540 U.S. 
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competitor’s rivals.”) (quoting 
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would order “despite their being ill-equipped to assume this role.” Aerotec, 836 F.3d at 1183.  

Finally, “compelled sharing may actually provide opportunities for collusion” between the 

monopolist and its rival or rivals.  Id. Collusion is “the supreme evil of antitrust,” Trinko, 540 

U.S. at 408, and itself quite “injuri[ous] to consumers and the competitive process alike.” 

Novell, 731 F.3d at 1073. 

Nevertheless, the general no-duty-to-deal rule does have a “narrow-eyed needle” of an 

exception, id., at 1074, traceable to the Supreme Court’s decision in Aspen Skiing. In that case, 

the defendant owned three of the four ski resorts in the Aspen, Colorado, market (making it a 

monopolist), and it had long operated a joint venture with the fourth (a rival mountain) that 

provided a ticket good for all four. See 472 U.S. at 588–92. That joint ticket was profitable for 

both parties and made customers happy.  Id. at 610.  The defendant Aspen Skiing, however, 

eventually terminated the joint ticket.  Plaintiff Highlands “tried a variety of increasingly 

desperate measures to re-create the joint ticket,” including eventually “offering to buy the 

defendant’s tickets at retail price.” Trinko, 540 U.S. at 408–09. Aspen Skiing refused to even 

accept those tickets at its resorts.  According to the Court, based on these facts, the jury (which 

had found liability) could have reasonably concluded that Aspen Skiing “was not motivated by 

efficiency concerns and . . . was [instead] willing to sacrifice short-run benefits and consumer 

goodwill in exchange for a perceived long-run impact on its smaller rival.”  472 U.S. at 610–11. 

That, the Court held, was sufficient for Section 2 liability. 

As the case has come to be understood, Aspen Skiing ran afoul of the Sherman Act — 

despite the general no-duty-to-deal rule — because it acted in a predatory fashion, which is to 

say it deliberately harmed itself (and consumers) in order to harm its competitor more.  Consider 

the analogy of a predatory pricing scheme, in which a firm prices its goods below its costs and 

36 
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have to prove [that defendant’s] refusal to deal caused [defendant] short-term economic loss”).  

The cases, and the leading treatise, offer a demanding gloss on this prong of the test: Qualcomm 

requires the predatory motivation to be “the only conceivable rationale or purpose” for the 

otherwise inexplicable profit sacrifice, see 969 F.3d at 993; Novell asks whether the cessation of 

dealing was “irrational but for its tendency to harm competition,” 731 F.3d at 1076; and Areeda 

& Hovenkamp look for “an unexplained, apparently irrational change in an established course of 

dealing.”  Areeda & Hovenkamp, ¶ 772d3, at 233. 

b. Application 

i. Facebook Policies 

Applying these principles, it is clear off the bat that Facebook’s adoption of a policy of 

not offering API access to competitors did not, standing alone, violate Section 2.  As set out 

above, a monopolist has no duty to deal with its competitors, and a refusal to do so is generally 

lawful even if it is motivated, as Verizon’s was in Trinko, by a desire “to limit entry” by new 

firms or impede the growth of existing ones.  See 540 U.S. at 407. It follows that a firm’s merely 

announcing its choice not to deal with competitors, whatever the motivation for doing so, cannot 

violate Section 2.  The FTC’s core argument for why the policies themselves are unlawful — 

that their promulgation was intended to, and did, “change[] the incentives of third-party apps that 

relied upon the Facebook ecosystem [and thus] deterr[ed] them from including features and 

functionalities that might compete with Facebook,” Redacted Compl., ¶ 25; see also id., ¶¶ 77, 

137 — misses the boat.  The central teaching of the cases discussed above is that Facebook had 

no antitrust duty to avoid creating that deterrent.  See, e.g., Olympia Equipment Leasing, 797 

F.2d at 375 (“Today it is clear that a firm with lawful monopoly power has no general duty to 

help its competitors . . . by . . . pulling its competitive punches.”).  
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